IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEVEN M. EVANS,)
)
Appellant,)
)
VS.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Appellee.)
)

CASE NO. SC95-993

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

(**R**) Consisting of Volumes I through XX; Pages 1-2370 consisting of various pleadings and pretrial

hearings.

(T) Consisting of Volumes I-XI; pages 1-2069.

(SR) Consisting of the one volume supplemental record on appeal; Pages 1-53; transcript of the video deposition of Dr. E. Michael Gutman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 1996, the State of Florida indicted Steven M. Evans, Appellant, a/k/a/ "L.A."; Edward Francis, a/k/a "Jersey"; and Gervalow Ward, a/k/a "Dred", for the first-degree murder of Kenneth M. Lewis, a/k/a "Capone." The State also charged Evans, Francis and Ward with one count of kidnaping. (R XII 614-15) The trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent the indigent Steven M. Evans. (R XII 620)

On September 18, 1996, the Office of the Public Defender filed a motion to withdraw as counsel citing an irreconcilable conflict of interest. (R XII 623-25) On October 2, 1996, following a hearing, the trial court granted the motion and appointed private counsel to represent Steven M. Evans. (R XII 630)

On September 23, 1996, Steven M. Evans filed a *pro se* Demand for Speedy Trial and Demand for Discovery. (R XII 626-28) At a September 30, 1996, hearing, Appellant's *pro se* Demand for Speedy Trial was struck by the trial court. (R XIII 629)

On March 2, 1998 the trial court entered an Order Appointing Experts for both Competency and Sanity Evaluation naming E. Michael Gutman, M.D. and Alan S. Berns, M.D. (R XII 759-63) Both experts found Evans incompetent to proceed and the court agreed. (R XII 768-784) On June 5, 1998, the forensic administrator of Florida State Hospital, Chattahoochee advised the court that Evans was competent to proceed without medication. (R XII 801-06) On June 29, 1998 the court ordered further examination of Evans to determine whether he was competent to proceed. (R XII 809-13) Both experts and the trial court now found Evans competent to proceed. (R XIII 815-26) On September 14, 1998 the court ordered further examinations of Evans. (R XV 1294-98) Dr. Berns found Evans' competency to proceed was "borderline" and therefore not sufficient to proceed and Dr. Gutman found Evans incompetent to proceed. (R XV 1307-19) On October 14, 1998 the trial court again found Evans incompetent to proceed and ordered his involuntary commitment. (R XV 1327-30)

Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions dealing with the capital sentencing procedure. These included a motion to prohibit any reference to the advisory role of the jury (R XIII 839-40); a motion for interrogatory penalty phase verdict (R XIII 856-59); a written objection to standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt (R XIII 899-907); a motion to preclude death as a possible punishment and/or to question the prosecutor regarding his good faith in seeking the death penalty (R XIII 882-84); motion for findings of fact by the jury (R XIII 979-80); motion to declare Florida Rule 3.202 unconstitutional (R XIII 1000-09); several motions to declare certain provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional as applied (R VIII 878-881)(1094-98)(1107-30); {921.141(2) (R XIV 1099-1106)};{921.141(7)} (R XIII 949-67)}; {921.141(1) (R XIV 1013-16)}, {921.141(5)(N) (R XIV 1131-34)}; {921.141(5)(h) (R XIV 1151-63)}; {921.141(5)(g) (R XIV 1171-76)}; {921.141(5)(I) (R XIV 1135-50)}; {921.141(5)(d) (R XIV 1182-85)}; {921.141(5)(e) (R XIV 1164-70)} {921.141(5)(f) (R XIV 1186-90)}. Appellant also attacked the constitutionality of the statute based on the fact that a bare majority of the jury is sufficient to

recommend death. (R XIV 1080-81)

Appellant also filed a motion in limine requesting the exclusion of the plans of a purported robbery before the incident; that Evans was a gang leader; any physical violence towards Shana Wright the night of the incident; and any physical evidence recovered from the car driven by Shana Wright. (T I 47; T VII 1323-26) The court deferred ruling until a jury was selected, then ruled that as long as the gang activity does not become a feature at the trial, it was going to allow the relationship between the parties explained to the jury. (T I 48)

A jury was selected, and the defense made a motion to disqualify State Attorney Linda Drain and the entire office of the state attorney in this case because Drain was the prosecutor and Evans was the victim in a matter that very likely will be a mitigator in this case. (T I 8,9) The trial court denied the motion stating that "the State does this at their own risk." (T I 12) The State subsequently announced that State Attorney Drain would not participate in the penalty phase of the trial in an abundance of caution. (T I 52)

The defense then made a motion that the Court make a finding as to Mr. Evans' competency to proceed to trial. (T I 17) Dr. Gutman changed his earlier opinion as to Evans' competency to stand trial, and believed Evans incompetent to stand trial. (T I 15) The Court requested that Dr. Gutman and other state experts appear the next day to testify as to Evans' competency to stand trial. (T I 21)

Dr. Michael Herkov visited with Mr. Evans the previous Saturday for 45 minutes. (T I 104) After reviewing Dr. Gutman's report and meeting with Evans, Dr. Herkov concluded that Evans was competent to proceed. (T I 104) Dr. Allen Berns testified that he had last seen Evans on March 9, 1998, and after reviewing Dr. Gutman's deposition and other documents provided by the defense, Evans was competent to proceed to trial. (T I 107)

Dr. Gutman testified that on March 18, 1999 he found Mr. Evans marginally competent to stand trial although he suffered paranoid schizophrenia and was in marginal remission. (T I 109-12) Thereafter, Dr. Gutman read the deposition material from people who were there at the time of the alleged offense, and the fact that Evans would not entertain any consideration of the not guilty by reason of insanity defense. (T I 114) These items together provided strong evidence to believe that Evans was paranoid at the time of the offense and his mental illness may very well have prompted the behavior and actions that occurred at the time of the alleged offense. (T I 115) Since the offense, Evans was in a "disassembling mode"¹, therefore he could not adequately aid in his own defense. (T I 116) Evans required help by a psychiatrist to bring out information about his illness and his paranoia and fully apprise him of all the details of the defense of not guilty by reason of insanity. (T I 115) Dr. Gutman concluded that Evans is not competent to stand trial because he is delusional about wanting to be non-delusional. (T I 116) The Court found that Evans was competent to proceed. (T I 130)

During opening statement the State provided hearsay statements of the victim that he had not left the group behind but rather was scared and went around the block and came back and saw that everyone was gone. (T IV 686) The defense objected based upon hearsay and relevance. (T IV 688-89) Court overruled the objection stating it was opening statement and not evidence. (T IV 688) The defense moved for mistrial. (T IV 688) Court denied motion for mistrial. (T IV 688)

¹ A form of paranoid schizophrenia where the individual wants so hard to look like he is sane. (R VI 115)

During the trial, the defense requested a standing objection to Evans' plans to rob somebody in Sanford. (T VI 1132) Blane Stafford's testimony that "Dred returned to the apartment, and stated that there was nobody out there" was entered over defense hearsay objection. (T V 933) The defense objects to the repeated reference about gangs and gang activity. (T VI 1125; VII 1248) The prosecution asked state witness Amanda Taylor, a latent print examiner for the Orlando Police Department, the following question: "And did you compare those to prints from the records of the Orlando Police Department of Steven Maurice Evans?" (T VI 1107) The defense moved for a mistrial on the grounds that the above question made a reasonable inference that Evans was previously arrested or convicted of some offense which is improper character evidence. (T VI 1109) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. (T VI 1109) The defense made repeated objections to the introduction of the 22 caliber shell casing based on relevancy. (T VII 1217; 1358) The court ruled that since there had been testimony "out there" that the weapons were seen in the car by Shana Wright, the court permitted the evidence in over defense objection. (T VII 1223)

The defense moved to strike expert Fisher's opinion as to the shoe impressions because it is not an opinion to any degree of scientific certainty. (T VII 1323) The court admitted the opinion of expert Fisher over defense objection. (T VII 1323) Fisher testified that the shoe impressions were made by a Reebok shoe. (T VII 1332) Defense moved to strike the opinion of expert witness Fisher and moved for a mistrial because the shoes taken from Evans were Nike shoes. (T VII 1334) The state admitted that Fisher had compared Francis' shoes to the cast impressions because he wrongfully submitted those shoes to her on the witness stand. (T VII 1340) Defense renewed all of the earlier objections, moved to strike and move to disqualify witness Fisher from any further testimony in the matter, and rejected a curative instruction and renewed the motion for mistrial. (T VII 1342) The court gave a curative instruction admonishing the jury to not consider any reference to the Reebok shoes that was presented to the jury and not to draw any inference whatsoever from the testimony that was given. (T VII 1345)

The state rest. (T VII 1369) The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal as to count I arguing that the evidence showed that Evans had a depraved mind with the craziness, the drinking, the drugs, supporting second degree murder. (T VII 1370) Evans also requested a judgment of acquittal as to kidnaping arguing that at best the evidence proved false imprisonment because the victim came to the house armed with a gun pointed at the door to rob them. (T VII 1370) The court denied the motions for judgment of acquittal. (T VII 1372) The defense rested and renewed motions for judgment of acquittal and motions for mistrial. (T VIII 1404) The defense renewed previous objections to the premeditated murder and the reasonable doubt jury instruction, and a verdict on the theory of guilt. (T VIII 1411) The state rested without rebuttal. (T VIII 1413)

During closing argument, the prosecutor stated "the OG, he is the leader". (T VIII 1452) The trial court overruled the objection. (T VIII 1452) The prosecutor further argued "Jersey said that Dred did it, again, to protect the OG, to protect the leader". (T VIII 1458) The defense objected saying that the defense is repeatedly referring to OG and other things in making the gang a feature of the trial, and moved for a mistrial. (T VIII 1459) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial and admonished the prosecutor not to make references of that nature. (T VIII 1459) The prosecutor further argued "he (Ward) told you that when he made his deal, his deal was to testify against both Edward Francis and the defendant against both of them, not one against both." The defense objected and moved for a mistrial because the prosecution violated the courts early ruling regarding the Francis trial. (T VIII 1464) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. (T VIII 1464)

The jury found the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in the indictment. (T VIII 1530) The jury found on the special verdict for count I and II that Evans displayed or threatened to use a firearm in the commission of the each offense. (T VIII 1533) The jury also found Evans guilty as charged in the indictment of kidnaping. (T VIII 1533)

The appellant objected to the HAC and CCP jury instruction based on the lack of evidence, and that Evans was in a rage, and acting like a crazy man at the time of the offense. (T X 1841) The appellant's objection was denied. (T X 1845) The defense made a motion to strike the word emotional in the statutory mitigating factor under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance jury instruction. (T X 1851) The court denied the defense's special instruction on mercy. (T X 1867) The court denied the special jury instruction provided by the appellant on HAC. (T X 1868) The appellant sought to introduce the court orders finding Evans incompetent. (T X 1973) The trial court denied the introduction of the court orders. (T X 1976) The defense rests. (T X 1981) The defense renewed their objection to the jury instruction weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (T XI 2055)

The jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 11 to 1. (T XI 2061) On April 19, 1999, appellant filed a motion for new trial. (R XX 2250-58) The appellant filed a memorandum in support of life. (R XX 2271-88) The state filed a memorandum in support of death. (R XX 2260-68) At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, Evans requested that the hearing be waived and the court adopted the recommendation of the jury. (R X 513) Pursuant to <u>Koon v. Dugger</u>,² the court allowed the defense counsel to proffer what it wished to present and discussed it with Evans to determine whether he is freely and voluntarily waiving his right to present that evidence. (R X 516) Evans objected to counsel presenting additional doctor reports that supported the mental mitigation. (R X 531) Evans also objected to the introduction of the depositions of co-defendants Ward and Francis. (R X 534) The court would not consider the depositions. (R X 541)

In sentencing Steven M. Evans to death, the court filed written findings of fact on June 8, 1999. (R XX 2324-37) The court concluded that the State proved five aggravating circumstances: (1) Evans had been under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder; (2) Evans was previously convicted of a felony involving violence; (3) that the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnaping; (4) that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner; and (5) that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. (R XX 2326-29)

The trial court concluded that two statutory mitigating circumstances applied: (1) that the capital felony was committed while Evans was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and (2) that the capacity of Evans to

² 619 So.2d 246 (Fla.1993)

appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirement of law was substantially impaired. (R XX 2330-32) The court discussed seven categories of nonstatutory mitigation. (R XX 2332) The court rejected nonstatutory mental mitigation. (R XX 2332) The court gave little weight to the substance abuse issues. (R XX 2333) The court gave no weight to the disparate treatment of the co-defendants. (R XX 2334) The court gave little weight to family, community and character issues. (R XX 2334) The court gave no weight to the repeated head injuries and disappointments suffered by Evans. (R XX 2335) The court found the claims that there was a previous altercation with Lewis showing that Evans was "disturbed" and that the victim Lewis was unconscious at the time of the shooting unsupported by the evidence. (R XX 2336)

The trial court ultimately concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances and sentenced Steven M. Evans to die in Florida's electric chair. (R XX 2336) The trial court sentenced Evans to 121.25 months for the non-capital conviction. (R XX 2302)

On June 30, 1999, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (R XX 2339) This Court has jurisdiction.³

³ Art. V, §3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt/Innocence Phase

Shana Wright was Evans' girlfriend and shared an apartment at the Palms apartments in the beginning of February of 1996. (T IV 723) Two other men came to live in the apartment known as "Jersey" and "Dred." (T IV 725) On April 26, 1996 Wright was borrowing her brother Jeffrey Wright's car for the day. (T IV 726) Wright loaned the car to Evans and then went to bed at 8 p.m. (T IV 728)

Evans, and associates Edward Francis, Gervalow Ward and Kenneth M. Lewis went to Sanford to rob some fellow for "5ks" of dope. (T VI 1132) When the group arrived in Sanford, Ward was placed under a truck armed with a 38 caliber handgun and a shot gun. (T VI 1133) While Ward was laying under the truck, he saw brake lights cut on in the car, then the car backed up and took off. (T VI 1134) Ward ran out to Evans and thought that Francis and Lewis had left him behind. (T VI 1135) Ward subsequently saw Francis over by some bushes. (T VI 1135) The group then put up some guns under the tool shed. (T VI 1135)

The group then went to Mark Quinn's house to use the phone. (T VI 1136,38) Evans called Shana Wright and told her to get the bag with the money and get out of the house because someone was coming to rob the money. (T IV 729, 787) Evans also told Wright to report her brother's car stolen. (T IV 730)

Wright went to a neighbor's house and called the police and reported the car stolen. (T IV 730) After using the phone, the group with Stafford and Quinn got in Quinn's truck and returned to Orlando. (T VI 1139) Before they had gotten to the apartment, L.A. told Ward that he thought "Capone" left to rob Shana. (T VI 1142) When the group arrived at the Palm Apartments they looked for Shana Wright and could not find her, so Evans beeped her. (T VI 1140)

Evans arrived back at Wright's apartment and Wright came out from her friend's apartment. (T IV 735) Wright told Evans that the money was in the house. (T IV 735) Evans and Wright returned to the apartment with the rest of the group. (T IV 737-39) Evans was acting very strange and he started to beat his girlfriend Shana Wright. (T IV 736; 789)

The strange behavior continued at his girlfriend's apartment, where he began pacing back and forth and started to look kind of weird. (T VII 1275) Evans had an expression on his face, he looked like the joker in Batman. (T VII 1276) Evans would pace back and forth sit down get up and pace back and forth again. (T VII 1276) Evans looked like he was bouncing off the walls. (T VII 1276) Francis remarked "what's wrong with this joker." (T VII 1276) One minute Evans would be mad, the next minute he would be laughing. (T VII 1277) Francis also remarked "this joker is shot out." (T VII 1277) During all this time Evans was drinking Tahecian Breeze (a cheap wine) and smoking marijuana. (T VII 1278) According to Blane Stafford, Evans was acting like he was crazy. (T VI 1014) Evans was looking like his mind just wasn't quite right. (T VI 1014) Before the shooting Evans was drinking Champagne, Old English Malt Liquor and smoking marijuana. (T VII 1204; VI 1014)

When Capone returned to the apartment, Ward got on the left side of the door and Francis got on the right side of the door and Evans was in the middle armed with a gun.⁴ (T VI 1143) When Capone knocked on the door, Ward grabbed the door and swung it open. (T VI 1144) Ward grabbed his shirt and Jersey grabbed the other side of his shirt and pulled him in to the apartment and took the guns that he had off of him. (T VI 1144; V 913) Capone had a sawed off shot gun and a 22 caliber gun. (T VI 1144) Capone was asked why he left everyone behind in Sanford. (T VII 1258) Capone replied "I didn't leave you" and said he was looking for the group. (T VII 1258)

Once the guns were removed from Capone, the whole group jumped on him. (T VI 1145) Ward, Jersey, LA, Mark Quinn and Stafford all punched Capone. (T VI 1145) Wright never saw Evans hit Capone. (T IV 762) Later Wright and Evans

⁴ Blane Stafford testified that Dred and Dray grabbed guns waiting for the man from the car to enter the apartment. (T V 911) Then he testified that L.A., Dred and Jersey had guns in their hands. (T VI 1003)

were in her bedroom and saw the other guys beating Capone in the livingroom. (T IV 742; 762) Members of the group punched Capone, asking why he had left them. (T VI 1146,V 918) The beating of Capone went on for ten to fifteen minutes. (T VI 1150)

After the beating stopped, Evans told Jersey to go get something to tie Capone up with. (T VI 1151) Jersey hesitated, and Evans stated that "if he didn't go get it, he's going to be next." (T VI 1151) Jersey looked at Evans strangely and went to tying up Capone. (T VII 1260) Jersey tied up Capone, and Evans took a blue scarf and made a knot in the middle and put it in Capone's mouth and tied it around the back of his head. (T VI 1152)

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