IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEVEN M. EVANS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC95-993

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990
Fax (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

1. the capital felony was committed while the

defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Substantial weight was given to this mitigator.

- 2. the "accomplice" mitigator did not exist because Evans was the leader in the criminal enterprise that led up to the killing, as well as in the killing itself.
- 3. the victim was not a participant in Evans' conduct, nor did the victim consent to his own kidnapping and murder.
- 4. with respect to the impairment of Evans' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and conform his conduct to the requirements of law, the sentencing court stated, "[w]hile the evidence reasonably established that Defendant suffers from some sort of mental or emotional disorder, it is far less clear that it affected his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirement of law". The court gave this mitigator some weight, giving Evans the benefit of the doubt.
- 5. with respect to the various mon-statutory mitigators urged by Evans, the trial court gave little weight to various substance abuse issues and to the "family, character, and community" issues. The court gave no weight to the remaining non-statutory mitigators advanced by Evans.

(R2332-36). Clearly, the sentencing court gave careful consideration to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, carefully weighed them as required by Florida law, and found that the aggravators outweighed the mitigation, with the result that death was the proper sentence. The sentencing court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing Evans to death, and that sentence should not be disturbed.

To the extent that this issue requires further discussion, Evans relies on a wholly speculative list of "inappropriate considerations that may have influenced the jury's vote" to argue that the jury's recommendation of death as the proper sentence should be disregarded. Initial Brief, at 55-56. Interestingly, Evans argues, in Claim VIII, that the jury's 11-1 vote is a "split verdict" that is "unconstitutional". Those positions are completely inconsistent, and cannot be reconciled. Under Evans' theory (apparently, for the theory is not explained), a jury's recommendation of death can only be considered if it is (1) unanimous, and (2) cannot possibly have been based upon any "influence", no matter how speculative. That is not the law because it makes no sense.

The linchpin of Evans' argument appears to be that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel, felony-murder, and cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravators were improperly found. With respect to the heinous, atrocious, or cruel and cold, calculated, and premeditated components of this claim, the State relies on the discussion with respect to those aggravators set out herein. With respect to the felony-murder aggravator, the sentencing court stated:

Mr. Lewis was seized by Defendant and his associates, bound, and gagged. At one point, Mr. Lewis was forcibly moved into a back bedroom while

the police were at the door to the apartment investigating a reported theft of an automobile. Subsequently, he was forced, at gunpoint, out of the apartment to the location previously described where he met his demise. These acts which deprived Mr. Lewis of his freedom of movement are temporally and spatially distinct from the murder itself such that they constitute the separate offense of kidnaping. The Court finds that this aggravator was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

(R2327). Those findings are supported by the evidence, and should not be disturbed. With respect to the mitigation evidence, the Court explained its weighing of that mitigation evidence, and, under settled Florida law, the weight given to particular mitigation is within the discretion of the sentencing court. Evans has not alleged, much less established, an abuse of discretion. The trial court properly weighed the penalty phase evidence, and the sentence of death should not be disturbed.

V. DEATH IS THE PROPORTIONATE SENTENCE

On pages 67-69 of his brief, Evans argues that death is not proportionate to his crime. This argument, like the preceding one, is based on the false premise that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel, felony-murder, and cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravators do not apply to this case. For the

²²

Evans concedes that the "under sentence of imprisonment" and "prior violent felony" aggravators are present. *Initial Brief*, at 60-61.

reasons set out above, each of those aggravators applies here.

Because that is so, Evans' argument is, in at least some respects, incomplete.

In any event, the combination of aggravation and mitigation present in this case is closely matched by the facts of *Henyard v. State*, where this Court upheld the death sentence, stating:

Finally, upon consideration of all of the circumstances, we further conclude that Henyard's death sentences are not disproportionate to death sentences imposed in other cases. See, e.g., Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381, 391 (Fla. 1994) (death sentence upheld for execution-style killing of woman after she witnessed boyfriend's murder), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 115 S.Ct. 943, 130 L.Ed.2d 887 (1995); Cave v. State, 476 So.2d 180 (Fla.1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1178, 106 S.Ct. 2907, 90 L.Ed.2d 993 (1986) (death sentence proportionate where co-perpetrators abducted, raped, and killed victim; defendant not actual killer).

Henyard v. State, 689 So.2d 239, 255 (Fla. 1996). See also, Jones v. State, 748 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1999); Gaskin v. State, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla.1991); Hildwin v. State, 727 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1998); Howell v. State, 707 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1998). Finally, in Moore v. State, this court rejected a proportionality challenge to the death sentence, stating:

In Pope v. State, 679 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 117 S.Ct. 975, 136 L.Ed.2d 858 (1997), we held the death penalty was proportionate where there were two aggravating

factors (the murder was committed for pecuniary gain and the defendant had been convicted of a prior felony), two statutory violent mitigating circumstances (commission while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality of the conduct), and three nonstatutory mitigating circumstances (defendant was intoxicated, committed the murder subsequent to a disagreement with his girlfriend, and was under the influence of mental or emotional disturbance). In Melton v. State, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1994), we held the death penalty was proportionate where there were two aggravating factors (the murder was committed for pecuniary gain and the defendant had been convicted of a prior violent felony) and some nonstatutory mitigation. We find that the death penalty was proportionate See also Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996) (holding death penalty was proportionate where there were two aggravating factors--avoiding and commission during the course of burglary--with some nonstatutory mitigation).

Moore v. State, 701 So.2d 545, 552 (Fla. 1997). Death is the proper sentence in this case, and Evans' sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

VI. THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WAS PROPERLY DENIED

On pages 70-72 of his brief, Evans argues that the trial court should have granted a mistrial when a "state witness referred to appellant's prior criminal record." This issue was not preserved by a timely objection, and, moreover, is not a basis for reversal because there was no basis for a mistrial in the first place.

The full record with respect to this issue reads as

follows:

- Q. Let me show you what's been marked as State's Exhibit X for identification and State's Exhibit V composite, and ask if you have had occasion to examine those in the past?
- A. Yes. I have.
- Q. And did you compare those to prints from the records of the Orlando Police Department of Steven Maurice Evans?
- A. Yes. I did.
- Q. Now, the prints that you compared those to originally, did you today roll a set of prints from a gentleman here in the courtroom?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you compare -- do you see that person in the courtroom here today?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Would you point him out for us and describe what he is wearing?
- A. Yes.

(TR1107-08). At that point, defense counsel objected -- the principal basis for the objection was apparently that there had been no predicate established for the fingerprints that were compared to the latent fingerprints contained in State's Exhibits X and V. (TR1109-10). 23

²³

Defense counsel did refer, in passing, to "improper character evidence", but the predicate issue was the objection pressed to the court. (TR1110).

Florida law is settled that an objection, stating the specific grounds on which it is based, must be made before an answer is given -- otherwise, the objection is untimely and preserves nothing for review. § 90.104(1)(a), Fla. Stat.; Rowe State, 120 Fla. 649, 163 So. 22, 23 (1935) ("The purpose an objection being to prevent a question from being οf answered until after a ruling of the court can be obtained, it is well settled that it is too late to interpose an objection after the question has been answered."). In this case, Evans did not object until well after the "offensive" question had been answered. In failing to object in a timely fashion, and there is no basis to conclude that he was somehow precluded from doing so, Evans waived any objection he may have had to any question concerning the source of the fingerprints to which the crime scene latent fingerprints were compared. There is no basis for reversal because nothing is preserved for appellate review²⁴.

Alternatively, without conceding that Evans' objection at trial was sufficient to preserve anything for review, assuming arguendo that the objection was timely, Evans cannot establish

²⁴

Moreover, Evans' refusal to stipulate to identity served, in a very real sense, to invite the "error" complained of here. It is axiomatic that a defendant cannot invite an error and profit from it. (TR1108).

that any substantial right was adversely affected. That is what he must establish in order to be entitled to any relief, and he cannot carry his burden of proof. Evans' argument, when stripped of its pretensions, is that the jury would conclude that a passing reference to "'records of the Orlando Police Department' could mean nothing but a criminal history". Initial Brief, at 71. With all respect, the records of a police department can include numerous documents that have nothing to do with any criminal offense. The reference to "records" is far too vague to justify the unequivocal meaning ascribed to it by Evans. This was not "collateral crime evidence" 15, nor did it amount to improperly offered character evidence Because that is so, Evans has not shown that any substantial right held by him was adversely affected, and, therefore, has shown no basis for any relief. In any event,

²⁵

Evans' attempt to label this issue as one involving the "erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence" is, at best, disingenuous. There is no claim that this is a Williams Rule issue, and the attempt to make such a comparison is meaningless.

²⁶

Evans' reference to the *Coit* decision is misleading. In that case, the Court held, "The officer's bare statement that he had had other occasions to 'run across Mr. Coit' was given in explanation of the officer's ability to recognize appellant." *Coit v. State*, 440 So.2d 409, 413 (Fla. 1 DCA 1983).

Evans testified in his own defense at the guilt phase of his capital trial, and admitted that he had been convicted of two felonies. (TR1396). Because evidence of Evans' criminal history was properly before the jury as a result of his own testimony, it is specious to suggest that a reference to "records of the Orlando Police Department" had any effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Any error, assuming arguendo that one occurred, was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, supra.

To the extent that Evans claims that this "error" requires reversal of his death sentence, that argument is spurious. Evans admitted that he had been convicted of two felonies, and the sentencing court found the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. (R2326). There is no basis for relief with respect to either the guilt or penalty phases of Evans' trial.

VII. THE "IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE" CLAIM

On pages 73-76 of his brief, Evans complains that certain "irrelevant evidence" was introduced over timely objection. However, when the evidence and the record are fairly considered, there is no basis for reversal.

With respect to the "shell casing" (or cartridge case) found inside of the automobile involved in this offense, that cartridge case was identified as having been fired from the

same weapon which fired the fatal shots into Kenneth Lewis' head. (TR1357-59). As the State argued at the time of trial:

The relevance is that a shellcasing found in the car matches the shellcasings found at the scene which supports the witness's testimony that the participants in this crime were involved with that car. That's why these people became suspects to begin with.

(TR1218-19). Obviously, evidence which tends to connect the car used by Evans to the crime scene is both logically and legally relevant to the facts in issue in this case. The cartridge case recovered from the vehicle was properly admitted into evidence, and there is no basis for relief.

Evans also complains that evidence that he was a member of the "Cryps" was put before the jury, and that the jury was informed that Evans and his cohorts were in Sanford, Florida immediately preceding the murder for the purpose of robbing a "dope dealer". Despite Evans' claims, both of those facts are relevant to the crime for which he was on trial. Evans' gang membership was obviously relevant to explain to the jury who the various participants in this crime were and how they were acquainted, as well as to explain the events and activities that culminated in the execution of Mr. Lewis.²⁷ Likewise, this

²⁷

The references to gang membership are very limited. (R1124-1126;1128,1129;1242-1250).

evidence was part of the res gestae of the offenses at issue, and, as such, was properly admitted. See, e.g., Kimbrough v. State, 700 So.2d 634, 639(Fla. 1997); Jefferson v. State, 128 So.2d 132, 137 (Fla. 1961) ("It is a homicide committed during the perpetration of a felony, if the homicide is part of the res gestae of the felony."). The evidence about which Evans complains was properly admitted, and there is no basis for reversal.

Alternatively and secondarily, even if this evidence should not have been admitted, there is no basis for reversal because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In view of the nature of the crime, and the strong evidence of Evans' guilt, there can be no colorable argument that Evans would not have been convicted if the jury had been kept ignorant of his membership in the Cryps and the reason why Evans and his colleagues were present in Sanford, Florida. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Any error, assuming that one occurred, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

VIII. THE "SPLIT VERDICT" ISSUE

On pages 77-80 of his brief, Evans argues that the jury's 11-1 recommendation that he be sentenced to death is a "split vote jury recommendation" which does not, according to Evans,

comply with state and federal constitutional standards. This claim is foreclosed by binding precedent in addition to being procedurally barred.

In rejecting the claim pressed by Evans, this Court has held:

Jones contends that section 921.141(2), Florida Statutes (1987), and the federal constitution require jurors to use a special verdict form and to unanimously agree upon the existence of the specific aggravating factors applicable in each case. We have previously decided this question adversely to Jones's position. James v. State, 453 So.2d 786, 792 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098, 105 S.Ct. 608, 83 L.Ed.2d 717 (1984); Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 923, 96 S.Ct. 3234, 49 L.Ed.2d 1226 (1976).

Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234, 1238 (Fla. 1990). Evans has advanced no reason for changing settled Florida law, and, in any event, the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty act was upheld long ago. Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 279 (1976).

Further, in addition to being foreclosed by binding precedent, Evans' claim is not preserved for appellate review because there was no timely objection at trial. Florida law is settled that, in the absence of a timely and specific objection at trial, nothing is preserved for review on appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, Evans' sentence of death

should be affirmed in all respects.